PETITION FOR REVIEW 

TYPE OF APPEAL 

The claimant/petitioner, Thomas L. Cooper, appeals from the decision of the 

Workers' Compensation Board of Review Board ofReview dated October 5, 2015, which 

reversed the Administrative Law Judge decision ofMarch 19,2015, which remanded the claim 

to the Self-Insured Employer in order to obtain another evaluation concerning the amount of 

whole body impairment and then for the Reviewing Board to make a determination concerning 

that issue and for a protestable decision to be issued after the Reviewing Board's review on the 

permanent total disability threshold issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On Jlme 20, 2008, the claimant suffered an injury to his left hand that resulted in 

the amputation of four fingers while working for his employer. Eventually the claimant had 

reached maximum degree of improvement for this injury and was evaluated by Dr. Mukkamala 

who granted the claimant a 37% permanent partial disability for this injury. The claimant timely 

protested this order. The claimant was eventually granted a 43% permanent partial disability 

award based upon the report of Dr. Bruce Guberman. (W.Va. Supreme Court, 01-07-2013, No. 

11-0615). 

Based upon the claimant's other injuries he petitioned for a permanent total 

disability which exceeded the 50% permanent partial disability threshold. The prior work related 

permanent partial disability awards were granted as follows: 

In Claim No. 99-65388 the claimant was evaluated by Dr. Mukkamala who 

evaluated the claimant under the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 

Fourth Edition. He evaluated the claimant for numerous prior work related injuries from 

December 7, 1973, through May 5,1999, several claims that still caused the claimant symptoms 

and impairment. Regarding the injury on September 3, 1985, and Dr. Mukkamala found the 

claimant had a work related neck injury that still continued to be painful and stiff. The claimant 
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had a foot injury on December 21,1987 that continues to swell and a May 5, 1999, elbow injury 

that still continues to bother him. (Id. at pgs. 3,4). In his conclusion, Dr. Mukkamala found that 

the injury dated April 12, 1976, in relation to the claimant's back under the Range ofMotion 

Model of the AMA Guidelines, Fourth Edition that the claimant qualifies for a 6% wholeperson 

impairment. (Id. at pgs. 12, 13). Regarding the claimant's neck injury dated September 3, 1985, 

arid using the AMA Guidelines, Fourth Edition, the Range of Motion Model recommended a 3% 

wholeperson impairment. 

Based upon Dr. Mukkamala's report the employer, on September 15,2000, 

granted the claimant a 3% permanent partial disability award for the injury dated September 3, 

1985 and a 6% permanent partial disability award in Claim No. 760065621, with a date of injury 

of April 21, 1976. 

Dr. Mukkamala deferred rating the claimant for his low back injury, Claim No. 

990065388 for three to six months. Based upon the records, it appears the claimant was never 

rated for this injury. 

On August 20, 2001, Dr. Mukkamala then evaluated the claimant in Claim No. 

2000042874 for an injury to the claimant's right shoulder, right forearm and a smalllaceratioD on 

the claimant's right leg. At that time using the AMA Guidelines, Fourth Edition, Dr. Mukkamala 

recommended a 1 % wholeperson impairment for that claim. 

On September 18, 2001, the Self-Insured Employer granted the claimant a 1 % 

permanent partial disability award based upon Dr. Mukkamala's report. 

On June 20, 2008, the claimant had this serious right hand injury requiring 

amputation ofhis fingers that prevented him from returning to work. This occurred when a 

tripper car ran over his right hand partially amputating all ofhis fingers on his right hand and 

injuring his wrist and thumb. On February 5, 2009, Dr. MukkamaIa evaluated the claimant for 

this injury using the AMA Guidelines, Fourth Edition, and found the claimant had a 37% 

wholeperson impainnent due to this injury. 
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On March 18,2009, the Self-Insw-ed Employer closed the claim for temporary 

total disability benefits since there was insufficient medical evidence to pay additional temporary 

total disability benefits. 

On September 30,2009, the claimant submitted Dr. Gubennan's independent 

medical examination utilizing the AMA Guidelines, Fourth Edition to protest the 37% 

wholeperson impairment recommended by Dr. Mukkamala. Dr. Guberman found that the 

claimant had a total of43% wholeperson impairment due to this compensable injury which was 

an additional 6% over Dr. Mukkamala's recommendation and was previously granted to the 

claimant. 

The employer referred the claimant out to Dr. Bachwitt on July 6,2010, for a 

permanent partial disability exam regarding his right hand injury. Dr. Bachwitt examined the 

claimant and recommended a total of 38% wholeperson impairment for the work related injury to 

his right hand under the AMA Guidelines, Fourth Edition. 

On August 25,2010, the Administrative Law Judge reversed the March 18,2009, 

Self-Insured Employer's order that granted the claimant 37% pennanent partial disability. The 

Administrative Law Judge found the claimant was entitled to 43% pennanent partial disability or 

an additional 6% permanent partial disability over the prior 37% permanent partial disability. 

This was appealed by the employer to the Board of Review which reversed the Administrative 

Law Judge order. The claimant appealed this to the Supreme Court which reinstated the 

Administrative Law Judge order granting 43% permanent partial disability. 

On May 29,2012, the claimant was evaluated by Dr. Ralph Smith, a psychiatrist, 

regarding the right hand amputation injury. Dr. Smith diagnosed the claimant with post

traumatic stress disorder directly attributed to this compensable injury. He then found that the 

claimant's impairment was 14% but opined 4% was related to other non-compensable conditions 

and therefore granted the claimant a 10% wholeperson psychiatric impairment related to the 

compensable right hand amputation injury. 
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On June 12,2012, the Self-Insured Employer granted the claimant an additional 

10% permanent partial disability award based upon Dr. Smith's May 29,2012, report. 

On January 10,2013, the Workers' Compensation Board of Review ordered that 

the Offices of Judges decision dated August 25,2010, granting the claimant a 43% permanent 

partial disability award be reinstated pursuant to the Supreme Court ofAppeals Memorandum 

decision dated December 5, 2012, and Mandate date January 7, 2013. 

In response to the claimant's permanent total disability application the employer 

referred the claimant to Dr. Marsha Bailey who evaluated the claimant on February 28,2013. 

Similar to Dr. Mukkamala's November 2, 2000, report, Dr. Bailey found that the claimant still 

had back, neck and right shoulder pain. She noted the claimant had been granted a 6% 

permanent partial disability award in Claim No. 760065621 and the claimant received a 3% 

wholeperson impairment for the neck injury in Claim No. 860008966 and in Claim No. 

2000042874 regarding the right shoulder, Dr. Bailey noted the claimant did have a 1 % permanent 

partial disability award. 

Dr. Bailey reduced the claimant's cervical and spine impairment finding that 

while his impairment was solely due to pre-existing conditions. Regarding the lumbar spine 

injury Dr. Bailey opined the claimant's back impairment was not due to the compensable lumbar 

injury. Dr. Bailey then found that the claimant's right shoulder impairment should be reduced by 

1% due to non-compensable causes. Dr. Bailey also opined the claimant's neck impairment was 

not work related. She reduced the lumbar and neck impairments to 0% permanent partial 

disability. 

Regarding this current claim where the claimant had four fingers partially 

amputated Dr. Bailey found a 15% upper extremity impairment in the claimant's right wrist 

which she subtracted 7% wholeperson impairment due to loss ofmotion and injury to left wrist 

and found a total of 7% upper extremity impairment in the claimant's right wrist. She 

recommended a 32% wholeperson impairment for the amputation of the four fmgers and found 
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the claimant had a total of 7% upper extremity impairment for loss of motion in the right thumb, 

right wrist and right shoulder. She then found that the claimant had a 43% wholeperson 

impainnent for this compensable injury after using the combined values tables which included 
\ 

the 10% permanent partial disability for his psychiatric impairment. 

On December 9,2013, the Permanent Total Disability Review Board 

(hereinafter PTDRB) found the claimant had sustained a total of43% wholeperson impairment 

for all ofhis occupational injuries, that the claimant did not suffer a medical impairment of at 

least 50% on a whole body basis and had not sustained a 35% or greater statutory disability and 

therefore recommended the claimant's application for permanent total disability be denied. 

On December 9, 2013, the PTDRB noted that they had a duty to re-evaluate the 

claimant at the time ifhe had a 50% or more wholeperson impairment. They did accept that the 

claimant's back injury should be reduced and found 5% wholeman impainnent and noted that Dr. 

Bailey improperly applied Rule 20 to determine low back impairment. The Board still found that 

Dr. Bailey'S report was most current and accurate concerning the claimant's whole body medical 

impairment for all of this orthopedic injures. Therefore, the Board found that the claimant's prior 

43% award to his amputated fingers on his right hand was now reduced to 32% impainnent and 

10% impairment for psychiatric problems, and 7% impairment due to upper extremity problems 

and 5% impairment due to low back problems. The PTDRB did not readjust the neck injury 

permanent partial disability. 

On September 24,2014, the claimant's deposition transcript was submitted into 

evidence. The claimant described his prior injuries including his back injury on April, 1976 and 

was granted 6% disability award by Dr. Mukkamala. He stated he still continued to have low 

back pains. Regarding bis neck injury on September 3,1995, he still continues to have problems 

turning his head at times. Regarding his injury to the right leg, right shoulder and right forearm, 

they occurred while working on barges and his arm still hurts every now and then and his leg 

throbs. 
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The claimant testified regarding the non-work related motor-vehicle accident 

where he injured his wrist, neck and back in 1972. He fully recovered from those injuries and 

worked for his employer for thirty-eight years until the amputation ofhis fingers on this right 

hand. 

Regarding the finger amputations on his right hand his daily activities are 

extremely limited due to the loss ofhis fingers. His right hand is in constant pain. He still 

suffers emotional problems and has been depressed, disgusted and angry due to this compensable 

injury. He has not returned to work since the injury and is currently receiving social security 

disability. 

On March 19,2015, the Administrative Law Judge issued his decision to remand 

the claim to the Self-Insured Employer in order to obtain another evaluation concerning the 

amoUnt ofwhole body impairment caused by the claimant's compensable conditions and then 

have the PTDRB to make a determination concerning the issue and for a protestable decision to 

be issued after the Board's review on the permanent total disability threshold issue. The 

Administrative Law Judge's reason was Dr. Bailey's whole body impairment regarding the 

claimant's past injuries and the other whole body impairment amount ofpermanent partial 

disability. 

The PTDRB was correct in noting they had a statutory duty to determine whole 

body impairment as a result of all compensable injuries and are not restricted by prior awards of 

permanent partial disability. The PTDRB found that Dr. Bailey was incorrect in applying Rule 

20 to the lumbar impairment. The Board failed to adjust Dr. Bailey's neck fmdings. Based upon 

this error the Administrative Law Judge requested that the claim be remanded to the PDTRB. 

The employer timely appealed this decision. 

On October 5, 2015, the Workers' Compensation Board of Review reversed and 

vacated the Administrative Law Judge's March 19,2015, decision and reinstated the Claim 

Administrator's order ofMay 21,2015, denying the claimant his permanent total disability 
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award. The Board of Review's reasoning was based on Bowles v. The New West Virginia 

Mining Company, No. 14-1066. (W.Va. Supreme Court, July 9,2015) (Memorandum decision) 

(August 11,2015, Mandate), which found that Mr. Bowles wholeperson impairment was 

calculated by the Offices of Judges and the PTDRB without adjusting his lumbar and cervical 

impairment to fit within the West Virginia Code of State Rules §§ 85-20-C and 85-20-E even 

though this adjustment is required under West Virginia Code of State Rules §85-20-64.1 (2006). 

Based upon the Court's ruling in the Bowles case, the Board concludes that Dr. Bailey's 

application of Rule 20 was proper. In Bowles, Dr. Guberman incorrectly found the claimant had 

a thoracic impairment. The PIDRB, even without adjustments found the claimant did not meet 

the 50% threshold. 

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

Did the Workers' Compensation Board of Review's decision based upon a 

material misstatement ofthe evidentiary record, conclude the claimant had not met the 50% 

threshold, and a clear violation when weighing the evidence and erroneous conclusions oflaw of 

not remanding the claim or to consider all the claimant's prior permanent partial disability awards 

without reducing them? 

ARGUMENT AND. POINTS OF AUTHORITY 

W.Va. Code §23-4-1g provides that, for all awards made on or after July 1,2003, 

the resolution of any issue shall be based upon a weighing of all evidence pertaining to the issue 

and a finding that a preponderance of the evidence supports the chosen manner of resolution. 

The process of weighing evidence shall include, but not be limited to, an assessment of the 

relevance, credibility, materiality and reliability that the evidence possesses in the context of the 

issue presented. No issue may be resolved by allowing certain evidence to be dispositive simply 

because it is reliable and is most favorable to a party's interests or position. The resolution of 

issues in claims for compensation must be decided on the merits and not according to any 

principle that requires statutes governing workers' compensation to be liberally construed 
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because they are remedial in nature. If, after weighing all of the evidence regarding an issue, 

there is a finding that an equal amount of evidentiary weight exists for each side, the resolution 

that is most consistent with the claimant's position will be adopted. 

Preponderance of the evidence means proof that something is more likely so than 

not so. In other words, a preponderance of the evidence means such evidence, when considered 

and compared with opposing evidence, is more persuasive or convincing. Preponderance of the 

evidence may not be determined merely by counting the number of witnesses, reports, 

evaluations or other items of evidence. Rather, it is determined by assessing the persuasiveness 

of the evidence including the opportunity for knowledge, information possessed, and manner of 

testifying or reporting. 

The claimant has properly requested that the Supreme Court hear this appeal since 

the claim was not fully developed. The Administrative Law Judge never made a final order, and 

the Board of Review's decision is not consistent with Bowles and the Board failed to consider all 

the evidence. The Workers' Compensation Board of Review failed to take into account that the 

claim had a time frame issued which was not to expire until January 26, 2016, which would have 

allowed other evidence to be developed. The Administrative Law Judge never made a decision 

regarding the claimant's entitlement for a permanent total disability. The appeal to the Board of 

Review was regarding the remand back to the PTDRB regarding the neck injury. Therefore, the 

Workers' Compensation Board ofReview made its determination to reverse the Offices of Judges 

decision and vacated the March 19, 2015, order and decided the underlying issue ofpermanent 

total disability without a fully developed case at that time. 

If the Court believes a remand is not proper, the Workers' Compensation Board of 

Review's decision fails to consider the other substantial evidence of the claimant's permanent 

total disabilities including Dr. Guberman's report, the Supreme Court Memorandum decision 

dated December 5, 2012, Mandate of January 7,2013, and failed to correctly weigh the evidence 

based upon the preponderance of evidence standard. 
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The Board relied on Dr. Bailey's report but she failed to consider the permanent 

nature of the claimant's injuries and simply reduced them as pre-existing conditions or non

compensable causes. She first reduced the lumbar spine to 0% permanent partial disability. This 

5% lumbar injury was granted to the claimant under Dr. Mukkamala's examination in 2000. Dr. 

Mukkamala used the AMA Guidelines, Fourth Edition as required by Code and reduced it to the 

wholeperson impairment. At the time he rated the claimant on April 14, 2000, he noted the 

claimant still experienced symptoms. He noted the claimant mentioned his back continues to 

bother him. At the time Dr. Mukkamala made his fmdings, this was fourteen years after that 

injury. The claimant testified on September 24, 2014, he continued to have lower back pain. 

Therefore, Dr. Bailey merely reduced the claimant's back injury as a pre-existing condition in 

opposition to the medical evidence and the claimant's statement. The PTDRB did correctly 

adjust this finding but as the Administrative Law Judge noted the Board failed to correctly adjust 

the cervical spine issue. 

Regarding the cervical spine injury which occurred on September 3, 1985, Dr. 

Mukkamala again found the claimant had continued pain and stiffness in his neck at this time. 

Dr. Mukkarnala noted this on April 14,2000, roughly five years after this injury. The claimant's 

deposition in this current case again testified that he had problems turning his head at times due 

to pain and stiffness in his neck. Dr. Bailey did not grant the claimant any impairment for loss of 

motion based upon the range of motion was pain restricted. The claimant testified that he still 

has problems turning his head. Dr. Bailey found his pain restricted his range of motion. This 

injury is clearly due to the work related injury and therefore should not have been discounted by 

Dr. Bailey. 

In the Bowles v. The New West Virginia Mining Company, No. 14-1066 

memorandum decision, the Supreme Court affirmed the Board of Review's decision when the 

claimant had applied for a pennanent total disability based upon a 58% combined total of his 

prior permanent partial disability awards. The claimant was evaluated by Dr. Mukkamala for a 
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lower back injury. He found the claimant had an 11 % impairment under the AMA Guides, then 

he adjusted this rating to 8% to fit within the Lumbar Category II ofthe West Virginia Code of 

State Rules §85-20-C (2006). Dr. Mukkamala then found the claimant had a 10% impairment 

under the AMA Guides for loss of cervical spine motion which he then again adjusted this rating 

to 8% impairment to fit within the Cervical Category II of the West Virginia Code of State Rules 

§85-20-E. The Review Board's calculations differed from Dr. Mukkamala's and found that Mr. 

Bowles had a 75% impairment instead. of 42% impairment for all his injuries. The Review 

Board reached this determination by using the impairment ratings ofDr. Mukkamala, provided 

by Mr. Bowles cervical and lumbar spine prior to the adjustment of these ratings to fit within 

Lumbar and Cervical Category II ofthe West Virginia Code of State Rules §85-20-C and §85

20-E. 

It is clear this case is different than Bowles since the claimant's cervical 

impairment was reduced by the PTDRB and Dr. Bailey to zero permanent partial disability. This 

is clearly inconsistent with the whole evidence and the claimant's statement of the continued 

limitations from the neck injury. Regarding the claimant's neck injury again, Dr. Bailey found 

that the claimant's cervical injury was all pre-existing and therefore any problems he had were 

unrelated to his occupational injury in 1985. Dr. Bailey failed to look at all the prior awards and 

the claimant's ongoing complaints of stiffness and pain since the 1985 cervical injury. 

In Bowles, Dr. Guberman's examination was found to be unreliable since he 

included a thoracic injury which was not determined to be work related. In this case Dr. 

Guberman's report has been found reliable by this Court that granted him an 43% permanent 

partial disability. 

When reviewing the permanent partial disability awards, based upon the AMA 

Guidelines, F01lrth Edition and using the PTFRB's rational in Bowles in determining the 

impairment ratings before the adjustments to fit is Lumbar and Cervical Categories II, the 

claimant exceeds the 50% permanent total disability threshold. The claimant received a 43% 
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permanent partial disability award in Claim No. 2008049105 amputation of four fmgers and 

palm injury dated. June 20, 2008, and an additional 10% psychiatric on June 29, 2010 on this 

same injury. Regarding his lower back the claimant was granted a 6% permanent partial 

disability on September 15,2000, and also a 3% permanent partial disability award for his 

cervical or neck injury on September 15, 2000. On September 18,2001, the claimant received a 

1 % permanent partial disability for his 2000042874 injury on January 10, 2000, to his right 

shoulder, lower right arm and left leg. 

The claimant had numerous other injuries to his hands throughout his 39 year 

career with the employer. The hand injuries were minor at the time begiIllling around December, 

1977 and several other minor back injuries which all could attribute to the claimant's range of 

motion deficits in his later years. These were not addressed by Dr. Bailey but simply brushed off 

as pre-existing conditions. Given the claimant's long work history and physical labor it is not 

uncommon for somebody to sustain numerous injuries to their person. 

When weighing the evidence it is clear Dr. Bailey's report fails to take into 

account the claimant's total work injuries and simply dismissing the claimant's current physical 

limitations as pre-existing. Dr. Mukkamala and Dr. Guberman reports are more reliable and 

credible since they expressed range of motion fmdings shortly after the claimant had healed and 

were also under the required AMA Guidelines, Fourth Edition. 

Therefore, the Board of Review's findings were clearly wrong in regards to the 

whole record since they failed to take into account Dr. Guberman's report and correctly 

interpreted Bowles where the PTDRB did not reduce the lower back and cervical injury. This 

instant case the PTDRB did not reduce the lumbar injury but did reduce the cervical injury. 

Therefore, the Administrative Law Judge was correct in remanding the claim for it to be 

consistent with Bowles. 

CONCLUSION 

Wherefore, the claimant/petitioner, Thomas L. Cooper, respectfully requests that 
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his petition be granted and the aforesaid ftnal order be reversed, or in the alternative, ftnd that 

Thomas L. Cooper meets the 50% threshold and if so remand the claim back to the PTDRB to 

determine if he can be vocationally retrained.