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

IV. ARGUMENT 

It is evident that the administrative law judge violated the statutory authority and 

committed an error of law by ignoring the final recommendation of the PTDRB and by 

remanding the claim to the self-insured employer to obtain another whole person impairment 

rating and then return the claim to the PTDRB to make another determination. In his May 19, 

2015 decision, the administrative law judge concluded that Dr. Bailey's February 28,2013 report 

contained flaws in the manner apportioned whole person impairment and application of Rule 20, 

(20 C.S.R. 85-§20- et.seg.)(2006). The Board of Review correctly identified the adjudicator's 

error and found that Dr. Bailey's whole person impairment rating was consistent with the 

methodology recognized and accepted by the Supreme .Court of Appeals in a number of 

Memorandum Decisions. See e.g. Reese v. West Virginia Division ofEnvironmental Protection, 

No. 12-0852 (April 23, 2013); Jeffrey v. Pinnacle Mining Co., No. 11-1426 (February 4, 2014); 

Blair v. Mason Mining, LLC, No. 11-0537 (February 4, 2014); Preece v. Health Management 

Associates of WV; Inc., No. 11-1749 (February 6, 2014); Boone v. SWVA, Inc., No. 12-0221 

(June 11, 2014); Varney v. Brody Mining, LLC, No. 11-1483 (June 11, 2014); Lowe's Home 

Centers, Inc. v. Ramsey, No. 12-0752 (June 11, 2014); Kimble v. UCB, No. 11-1685 (June 11, 

2014); Lewis v. Laurel Coal Corp., No. 12-0354 (June 11, 2014); McClure v. Bluestone Coal 
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Co., No. 13-0392 (June 27, 2014); Shreves v. Town of Rivesville, No. 11-1463 (October 3, 

2014); EQTCorp. v. Smith, No. 13-0808 (October 15,2014); Manley v. Patriot Coal Corp., No. 

13-0509 (October 15, 2014); Whitt v. Alcan Rolled Products-Ravenswood, LLC, No. 13-0643 

(October 20, 2014); Roberts v. Mary Roberts, No. 13-0867 (November 20, 2014); Young v. 

Heartland Employment Services, LLC, No. 13-1169 (December 3, 2014); Schultz v. Heartland 

Publications, No. 13-1025 (June 1, 2015); Martin v. Magnum Coal Co., No. 13-1026 (July 27, 

2015); and Thomasv. Pine Ridge Coal Co., LLC, No. 14-1194 (September 16,2015). 

While the PTDRB process is confusing, that independent body of three physicians and 

two vocational rehabilitation experts were incorporated within the Offices of Insurance 

Commissioner and receives its legal direction from the Office of insurance Commissioner's legal 

counsel. Neither the employer or claimant have access for hearing before the PTDRB, as they do 

in the OP Board and, only the claimant may protest the non-discretionary order the responsible 

party must enter after the PTDRB's final recommendation. It is evident that the administrative 

law judge did not agree with the PTDRB's reliance on medical evidence that was considered by 

the PIDRB. Hence, when the administrative law judge wants another outcome, he is able to 

order a remand of the claim to the responsible party and direct it to arrange another exam and 

theri return the claim to the PTDRB. The adjudicator concluded Dr. Bailey's February 28, 

2013report was flawed. That alleged flaw was not found by the PTDRB and its legal advisors. 

The adjudicator ignored the various claims from the supreme court in which the court affirmed 

the role of the PTDRB and directions that it should be recognized and given deference for its 

whole person medical determinations. The Supreme Court of Appeals has consistently affirmed 

PIDRB determinations even where the Office of Judges reverses the determination. This 

demonstrates that deference should be afforded to the PTDRB where the preponderance of 

evidence supports the PTDRB's finding as it clearly does in the instant claim. 
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The Board of Review was not clearly wrong by reversing and vacating the decision from 

the Office of Judges and reinstating the claim administrator's May 21, 2014 order. The Board of 

Review followed its statutory mandated standard for review and correctly found the analysis and 

conclusions of the Administrative Law Judge were affected by error oflaw. 

When reviewing a decision of the Board of Review, the Supreme Court of Appeals shall 

consider the record provided by the Board and give deference to the Board's findings, reasoning 

and conclusions, in accordance with subsections (c) and (d) ofthis section. W.Va. Code § 23-5

15 (b) 

" The Board of Review is mandated to reverse a fmal order only if the substantial rights of 

the Petitioner have been prejudiced because the Administrative Law Judge's findings are (1) in 

violation of statutory provisions; (2) in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the 

Administrative Law Judge; (3) made upon unlawful procedures; (4) affected by other error of 

law; (5) clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole 

record; or (6) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly 

unwarranted exercise of discretion. W. Va. Code § 23-5-12(b)(2005). 

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, West Virginia Workers' Compensation Board 

of Review ("BOR"), and the Office of Judges ("001") should consistently recognize that the 

PTDRB's function is to determine whether a claimant has met the WBMI statutory threshold for 

further consideration of a PTD award, pursuant to W.Va Code Section 23-4-6(n)(I). E.g., Noe 

'Y. W.Va. Office o/Ins. Comm'r, No. 11-0356,2012 WL 481507, at *2 (W. Va. Oct. 2, 2012) 

(mem. decision) (affirming the BOR's affirmation of the oors affirmation of the PTDRB's 

detennination that the claimant failed to meet WBMI threshold and noting that "the function of 
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the [PTDRB] is to determine whether a claimant has met the statutory threshold for further 

consideration of [PTD] award,,).1 

Further, consistent with the PIDRB's authority to make WBMI determinations based on 

its review of the record evidence, the Supreme Court of Appeals has upheld PTD denials based 

on the PTDRB's reliance on evaluations it finds most accurately assesses WBMI, although the 

claimant champions evaluations that are more favorable to him or her. E.g., Hendricks v. W. Va. 

Office of Ins. Comm'r, No. 11-1183,2013 WL 2257670, at *1 (W. Va May 22,2013) (mem. 

decision) (affirming PTD denial where the PTDRB found that evaluations of two physicians 

"were the most accurate assessments" of the claimant's WBMMI in concluding that the claimant 

suffered 29% WBMI and explaining that the claimant failed to show that the PTDRB was 

"clearly wrong" by not relying on another evaluation that found the claimant suffered from 51% 

WBMI); Adkins v. W. Va. Office ofIns. Comm'r, No. 11-0787,2013 WL 829035, at *2 (W. Va. 

Mar. 6,2013) (mem. decision) (affIrming PID denial based on PTDRB's determination that the 

claimant failed to meet WBMI threshold and agreeing that the opinion of the evaluator who 

found that the claimant met the threshold was entitled to less weight than the evaluators' 

opinions upon which the PTDRB relied for its determination because such were the most recent 

and persuasive assessments); Cline v. W. Va. Office of Ins. Comm'r, No. 11-0809, 2013 WL 

490714, at *1 (JI. Va. Feb. 8, 2013) (mem. decision) (affirming PTD denial and finding the 

preponderance of the evidence did not establish that the claimant suffered 50% WBMI and, 

despite the claimant's argument the PTDRB failed to rely upon the most reliable evaluator's 

findings, such evaluator consistently found 'that the claimant suffered from a significantly higher 

I "Memorandum decisions are decisions by the Court that are not signed, do not contain a Syllabus by the Court, and 
are not published." Syl. pt.4, State ofW. Va. v. McKinley, No. 13-0745 (W. Va. Sept. 29,2014). ''While 
memorandum decisions m,ay be cited as legal authority, and are legal precedent, their value as precedent is 
necessarily more limited; where a conflict exists between a published opinion and a memorandum decision, the 
published opinion controls." Id at Syi. pt. 5. 
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impairment than any other evaluators and was the only evaluator to find sensory loss); Noe, 

2012 WL 481507, at *2 (affirming PID denial based on PTDRB's determination that claimant 

failed to meet the WBMI threshold and finding that the PTDRB's determination was "not made 

in error" as the two evaluations upon which the PTDRB were persuasive). 

Furthermore, the Supreme Court of Appeals has consistently affirmed PTDRB 

determinations, even where the OOJ reverses the determination, demonstrating its recognition 

that deference should be afforded to the PTDRB where the preponderance of the evidence 

supports the PTDRB's findings. E.g., Hendricks, 2013 WL 2257670, at *1; Blankenship, 2013 

WL 6726513 at *1; Smith v. W. Va. Office·ofIns. Comm'r, No. 101170,2011 WL 8185561, at 

*1 (W. Va."Nov. 10,2011) (mem. decision). 

The Supreme Court of Appeals' acknowledgement that the PTDRB should be afforded 

deference in its WBMI determination mimics the deference afforded to the Occupational 

Pnewnoconiosis Board ("OP Board"), which is functionally similar to the PTDRB. Fenton Art 

Glass Co., v. W. Va. Office ofIns. Comm'r, 222 W. Va. 420, 664 S.E.2d 761 (2008) (holding that 

"great deference should be given to the OP Board not only on medical, but also on exposure 

issues, related to the disease known as occupational pneumoconiosis" and observing that the OP 

Board "is not only a board compromised of experts in the field of occupational pnewnoconiosis, 

but also that the OP Board's members are presumptively impartial). Id at 428, 769. The 

PTDRB is charged with determining all WBMI questions for determining PTD claims, 

functionally similar to the OP Board, which is c~ged with determining all questions relating to 

occupational pneumoconiosis cases. Compare W. Va. Code §23-4-6(n) and W. Va. Code §23-4

8a. Both the PTDR and OP Board should be subject to the same "clearly wrong" standard of 

review. Compare W. Va. Code §23-4-6G)(6) and W. Va Code §23-4-6a. Further, like the OP 

Board, consisting of impartial experts that are entitled to deference, the PTDRB is comprised of 
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three "qualified physicians with specialties and expertise qualifying them to evaluate medical 

impairment' and the two vocational rehabilitation specialists who are qualified to evaluate the 

ability of a claimant to perform gainful employment with or without training." Compare W. Va. 

Code §23-4-6G) andW. Va. Code §23-4-8a. In light of the "clearly wrong" standard of review 

and applicable statutory language as interpreted by the Supreme Court of Appeals and 

implemented through its continually and consistently affirming the PTDRB's determinations, the 

PTDRB is entitled to deference. 

Here, the Board of Review's decision reflects a correct and proper application of the law 

to the facts of the claim. The determination by the PTDRB that claimant failed to establish the 

requisite 50% whole body medical impairment applicable to this claim for PTD benefits is 

supported by credible, reliable and substantial evidence. The October 5, 2015 Board of Review 

Order should be affirmed 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court REJECT the Petitioner's 

appeal and affirm the Board ofReview's order dated October 5, 2015.